
        
            
                
            
        

    















“I just love it here so much,” Jenna said. She sat down on the top step of the porch that wound around the whole low, dark cabin set back in the woods. “I never want to go back, when we come out here,” she said. I looked away from her when she twisted her face around and up to mine where I sat in the big old overstuffed chair behind her. I could never take her dark, unsettling eyes for long. She secretly loved teasing me with them, too. She snorted lightly and ducked her grinning face down when she saw me turn away.
Danielle and Bailey came out onto the porch finally as well, and sat together in the swinging loveseat. I had recently pulled it out of the rafters of the barn and sanded the rust off and repainted the bars and rebuilt the frame. It was a scene right out of Little House on the Prairie that Saturday morning, except for there being three stunning girls in their mid-20s dressed in nothing like what you’d see on any retro TV show.
“It’s so peaceful here,” Danielle said, lolling her head back. “And just us, too.” They were holding hands, her and Bailey. The way they looked at each other — the way their eyes were held half-lidded at each other a brief moment too long — told me the reason they were so late to come outside. We could hear them anyway, minutes before they appeared, Bailey’s distinctive grunting and her open mouthed groans, and Danielle’s high-pitched breathy and crying alarms.
“You’re so lucky to live here,” Bailey said.
I leaned forward in my chair far enough to hand her the letter I’d received from the conservation board just that morning, the letter I found in the mailbox all the way down by the road.
“What’s this?” she said, leaning over far enough to take it from me, and she unfolded it open.
“Came early this morning,” I said.
Danielle leaned over sideways and read it over Bailey’s shoulder. “Oh my god!” she said, and she covered her mouth with both of her cupped hands. They both stopped the loveseat swinging at its furthest back, their legs straight, their knees locked. “What does this even mean?” she said.
“Means they’re going to sell it, I guess,” I said.
All three girls dropped their jaws down to their chins.
“Well what are you going to do?” Danielle said with angry defiance filling her voice and pulling her face wide.
I shrugged. “I can’t buy it,” I said. “Obviously.”
Jenna fluttered her hand behind her back at Bailey and snatched up the letter when she handed it down to her and she quickly read it too. “How do you know you can’t?” she said,  still scanning the lines of the letter with bulging eyes.
I chuckled. “Danielle can tell you what I make at work,” I said. “Being HR and all.”
“How do you even know what this would cost to buy, though?” Jenna said.
“Anybody can easily guess,” I said. “Train was going to pull into the station sooner or later,” I said. “All good things . . . . “
Bailey put her phone to her ear.
“Who you gonna call?” I said.
She put her finger up at me and started chattering before she got out of the loveseat and went around the corner of the cottage to speak more privately to whoever it was she phoned. 
Danielle was the next one on her phone, standing up and texting madly, pacing in a tight circle on the porch.
“What the hell?” I said, and I rolled my eyes. “Fun while it lasted,” I said to the canopy of trees obscuring the old ranger’s cottage.
Jenna grinned and shrugged with exaggeration where she sat on the step. “Cooks gonna cook,” she said, nudging her head in the direction of Bailey and Danielle. “Give those two red meat to bite into, and you’ve got a fight on your hands,” she said. “Maybe they’ll come up with something.”
Bailey came back around and took the letter from Jenna and held it out in front of her to take a picture of it. I heard the swoosh as she sent it in a text.
“Send a copy to me?” Jenna said. There came a second swoosh and Jenna instantly got busy on her phone, too.
“I have a friend who’s in real estate,” Bailey said. “She’s going to check this whole thing out.”
“Oh for fuck sakes, Bailey,” I said. “I can’t do it, you know I can’t. It’s over.”
She planted her feet on the porch and pushed her fists into her hips. She extended one foot toward me across the porch and tapped it rapidly at me like wind-up snapping jaws. “You’re not the only one around here who can fix things, you know!” she said.
“And I have a friend who does the mortgages at a bank,” Danielle said, getting off her phone. “So everybody get dressed, we have an appointment down at her branch.”
“On Saturday?” I said.
“Their busiest day,” she said. “But she made time for you this morning.”
“This is nuts,” I said. “There’s no way.”
“Get in there!” Bailey said, and she pointed at my door with her outstretched arm.
We stopped at Danielle’s to pick up her laptop. The accountant in her couldn’t think without a spreadsheet open to populate with numbers.
I waited on a chair in the bank branch while Danielle cascaded her fingers side to side over her keyboard like a burbling creek and Jenna texted madly on her phone, her thumbs wiggling in a blur. Bailey was murmuring on her phone to someone through her cupped hand, standing in the corner by the potted palms.
A woman came out of a glass office and said my name and gestured for me to come in with her. Danielle, Bailey, and Jenna all came with me.
“Gang’s all here!” the woman said.
“Exploratory talks,” Danielle said, and she closed the door.
“Aren’t they always,” her friend said as she scooped her skirt under her thighs and took her seat behind her desk.
Danielle explained the nature of the issue — the conservation board deciding to hive off the corner of the land with the cottage on it, the heritage board banning any knock-down of the cottage, and my desire to keep on living there, having made a great deal of improvements to it.
“Let’s try to figure this out then,” the woman said. She held her hand out to me to shake. “It’s Mariam,” she said, and she chuckled.
I took her hand and said, “Luke.”
“Looks like everybody is pulling for you Luke!” she said. “Let’s see what we can do.”
“Let’s start with what he earns now,” Danielle said. Mariam asked her a series of questions to which Danielle knew more quickly and certainly the answers than even I did myself. She was that kind of details-oriented HR manager at the utility. Nothing escaped her sharpened eyes.
Bailey got a text. “Ok,” she said. “My friend . . . “ she started. She lifted her face from her phone to Mariam over the desk. “I have a friend in real estate,” she said.
“Good, good,” Mariam said.
Bailey turned back to Danielle and Jenna. “She says she thinks it’s going to be anywhere between six and eight hundred.”
Mariam squinted her eyes at me. “And I’m afraid the most I could possibly do for you here is 300. Based on your income.”
“Now a new set of numbers,” Danielle said.
“And these are?” Mariam said.
“He was offered a job promotion Friday and he has until Monday to accept it,” Danielle said.
“Okay, and is this a solid offer?” Mariam said.
“Ironclad,” Danielle said. She showed Mariam the face of her phone with the new rate of pay showing.
“Someone’s been a very good boy,” Mariam said as she dropped her eyes to her screen and skittered her fingers over her keyboard again. She rotated her screen back to us and sat back in her chair and folded her arms over her chest.
Danielle read the screen and turned to me. “650,” she said.
“I can read,” I said.
“Is that for sure?” Danielle said.
“You’re telling me the job offer is for real, and I can trust that,” Mariam said. “I know you.”
“How do we even know that that’s going to be the highest bid?” I said.
“Because!” Jenna finally perked up. “I just got the goods from my friend at the conservation board,” she said. “You’re not supposed to know this,” she said to me, “but there’s a number the board is already committed to accepting — if it comes from you,” she said.
“What does that even mean?” I said.
She showed me her picture of the original letter. “That blah-blah-blah part you skipped over?” she said. “What it means is, in recognition of what you did for them over the years and how this is affecting you, they are giving you basically dibs — first refusal rights on their asking price.”
“Which is?” Danielle said to her.
“It’s going to be 600,” Jenna said softly as though it was a secret. “And if the committee can table that at the meeting tomorrow night, along with Luke’s offer for it, it won’t even go as far as being tendered out publicly,” she said. She looked at me. “Because of how the land originally came to the board,” she said, “selling it on the open market comes with piles of other complications,” she said. “All of which goes away if the board can vote on a simple private transfer instead,” she said to Mariam. “Some clause in the original deed donation,” she said to me. “If someone is living on it, if someone keeps living on it.”
“And my real estate friend,” Bailey said, looking up from her phone, “just said she could handle the legal on this no problem, by Monday!”
The mortgage officer Mariam looked at me. “I could certainly have the mortgage ready in a couple of days,” she said. “If these numbers check out.”
“Sounds like,” Danielle said, turning to me, “if you accept the new job offer Monday, you’ll have your mortgage ready by Tuesday morning . . . “
“ . . . and my friend can have the purchase  and transfer papers ready by Tuesday afternoon,” Bailey said.
“ . . . and my friend can make sure the whole thing is on the agenda for the conservation board meeting Tuesday night,” Bailey said. “And they can vote on it before breaking at nine, if everything is in front of them.”
“Fuck me,” I muttered to myself, and I rubbed both my hands up and down my face rapidly.
Later that afternoon, we got on our hiking boots. “My friend says they staked out the new property lines sometime last month,” Jenna said.
“I didn’t see anybody out here,” I said.
“White poles with numbers on them,” she said. “There’s one on the road, and then we go in from there to find the next one.”
We went down the long and winding road and passed by the mailbox that brought such life-altering news to me only the day before. We kept to the side of the road for about 50 feet before Danielle spotted the first white stake lurking in the weeds over the ditch.
I looked back down the road to the mailbox. “Fuck of a lot wider than I thought it would be,” I said.
We plunged in through the roadside row of trees and made our way through the fields and clumps of shrubs and around the various stands of trees. I thought we had to have missed it, but the girls wanted to keep plunging further forward. Bailey spotted the second stake, finally.
“Fuck me,” I said, unable to see the road behind us anymore.
“It’s supposed to be one acre,” Jenna said, walking while staring at her phone. “About 100 feet wide by about 450 feet deep.” 
“Why so much?” I said.
Jenna shrugged. “It’s what they decided on,” she said. “Something to do with how it was originally donated to them,” she said. “From some dead guy’s estate — it said it could only be sold off by the acre.”
We turned at the stake and headed toward where the next stake should have been. The direction took us up a hill to a high spot giving us an expansive view of the whole conservation land. We could see the pond, really a small lake, completely enclosed within the land that would come with the cottage, if these stakes were right.
“I didn’t expect the pond,” I said.
“Pretty freaking nice spread,” Bailey said.
“What are those squares?” Danielle said. She pointed down to the side of the small lake.
I’d never noticed them before — I’d never climbed up the hill at that time of year before — but they were distinctive from up there — nine squares in a row along one side of the lake.
“Let’s go see,” Bailey said.
When we got to them, we discovered, under the leaves and dirt the years had blown on them, nine concrete pads, each of them perfectly square, and about 600 square feet each.
“Cabins?” I said. The squares all faced the lake.
We found the last two stakes and made our way back to the cottage. Jenna got busy on Danielle’s laptop. It didn’t take her long to find old pictures of the vacation rental cabins that used to be nestled along the lake, once she knew what to look for, and pictures also of a much bigger cottage where I had been living.
“If this is what it used to look like,” Jenna said, “then it would also be a restoration, not new build-out, if you put some cabins back in there,” she said. “Heritage board couldn’t stop you.”
“Not if you built them with that appearance,” Bailey said.
“Which you would just love doing, if I know you!” Danielle said.
“Including your own cottage,” Jenna said.
“Hang on, hang on,” I said. “I’m not even sure I want to buy this thing, I’m not even sure I want the manager’s job,” I said.
“If it doesn’t get put on the agenda Tuesday,” Jenna said, “then it goes up for public bidding, with all the complications the land comes with, which my friend says is going to cause the board to need to pursue a much higher price,” she said. “To cover those legal complications off — and it would probably take a year to get it to market, too.”
“If it goes to market,” Danielle said.
“Which it will after Tuesday,” Bailey said, nodding.
“If you don’t make your move right now,” Danielle said.
“Fuck me,” I said. But they only laughed.
Sunday morning, we walked over the overgrown double trail back to the lake and sat on a fallen log amidst the buried concrete cabin pads.
“I can totally see three perfect little cabins right here,” Bailey said.
“Why three?” I said.
“There’s three of us, of course!” Danielle said, and she bulged her eyes out at me and shook her head with a grin. “It wouldn’t be forever, obviously. But we could rent them from you, couldn’t we. It would help with the mortgage and the cost of building them. Then you get to have your three girlfriends out here with you, each of them tucked away in their own little cabin by the lake!” she said and she laughed.
“I’d love it!” Jenna said. “That would be so effin cool!”
“You could restore your own cottage too,” Bailey said. “Build four cabins, so you can live in one while you rebuild the main cottage,” she said.
“You guys sound like you have it all worked out,” I said.
“Maybe we do,” Bailey said and she chuckled. “And you can still be a handyman, just out here on your own private property, fixing things and looking after your girls,” she said.
“It’s private enough, nobody would ever know,” Jenna said. “
“And even if they did know that we all moved out here with you,” Danielle said, “all you did was re-build cabins to rent, and all we did was rent them from you. So what? Nobody has to know what actually goes on out here.”
They all laughed conspiratorially at that.
“So let me get this straight,” I said. “To keep living here, I need to leave my handyman job at work. But if I want to keep my handyman job at work, I’d have to leave this place.”
I looked around. All three girls nodded at me.
“There’s another option,” Jenna said. “Do nothing by Monday, and lose us, because I can’t believe you’re even in doubt about this!” she yelled, and she shook her head.
I snorted and looked at the ground between my feet. “I can’t have all three?” I said.
“Well,” Bailey said, “like I said, you can be a handyman out here, and keep living out here, too, and have your three girlfriends living out here with you, as well,” she said. “All three.”
“When you put it that way,” I said.
Danielle had brought a blanket on our walk to the future lakeside cabins. “It’s just to think about,” she said. “What could be, if you wanted it.” She flicked the blanket open and settled it down, billowing over one of the concrete pads. “We already discussed it,” she said. “Moving into three cute little cabins out here, we’d all love it.”
All four of us sat back down on the blanket Danielle had spread out. Someone brought fresh, cold grapes. Someone else brought chilled wine and glasses. They opened a package of prosciutto and cut into a small wheel of brie. Someone cut a baguette into thin disks.
“Jesus, you guys thought of everything,” I said.
“Shh,” Danielle said, and she pushed me in the chest so I rocked back on my hips and came down on my elbows behind me. “We’re trying to seduce you with the idea of it all.”
Bailey lowered herself over me and blocked the sun with her face.
“You look like an angel hovering over me,” I said.
“How do you know I’m not?” she said and she lowered her warm lips to mine and kissed me lightly. I came down on my back flat and she snickered.
Someone’s hands tugged at the waist of my pants. I tried to lift my head to see, but Bailey pushed me back down.
“Don’t you worry,” she said. “All you have to do is accept the job on Monday.”
My pants were pulled down and opened up. My shorts were pulled down around my thighs. I felt the warm sun all over my skin. Bailey chuckled lightly and kissed me all over my face and neck. I felt a warm, soft mouth close around the head of my cock and hot, full lips push down over its shaft. A second mouth came down after the first one pulled back up and off me, and inside the second one, a tongue whipped around my shaft and slithered up and down over the head.
I strained in my neck and stretched out with my legs.
“Eat my pussy?” Bailey said, and she got up onto her knees over my face and lowered her groin down to my mouth. She both chuckled and moaned at the same time as she pulled the aside the front of her panties. Her bare pussy lips, gleaming and hot, danced lightly over my lips and tongue. Her hips shook.
I raised my arms to hold her, but she shook her head at me looking down and said, “Nah-uh,” and the others pulled my hands down and pressed them into the blanket to pin me there. I heard laughing and smooching and the rustle of clothes, and then I felt a tighter mouth, a shaking mouth — a pussy — push down over the head of my straining cock and I felt hips squeeze down onto my hips. And then I felt a different pussy push down over my cock when the first one came off.
Bailey shook and gasped on my face. “My turn!” she said to the others over her shoulder.
They all laughed and squealed and soon someone else was quivering in their pelvis as they lowered their pussy onto my mouth, and a third pussy pushed down more rapidly and greedily over my cock.
Unable to simply lie there and take it, I pushed myself up, struggled free of all of their half-hearted attempts to hold me down, and I snatched at the first set of hips I could reach. I hauled them in front of me where I knelt high up over them.
Whoever it was, I plowed myself into her from behind. Only when I wrapped my hand in her hair and pulled her head up and back did I realize I was dog-fucking Danielle, that brown-eyed quiet cutey from HR who always dresses so professionally.
Another of them pushed her bare hips against Danielle’s hips and dropped her back so far down, her chest pushed into the blanket. Her body rotated up at me and her pussy dripped with anticipation. I shifted myself on my knees, hefted my heavy Danielle-wetted cock in my hand, and aimed the head into the second pussy.
I drove myself down into it in one harsh ramming motion, jolting the body it belonged to. Only when I saw the tight black curls of hair shudder from my jolting her body did I realize it must have been that dark, mysterious and exotic Jenna from corporate and public communications with the always-dazzling smile.
A third body pushed itself rudely between the other two, and wriggled and writhed, laughing, until her hips rose up between them facing me, and she dropped herself down onto her elbows. I pulled out of Jenna’s grasping and slurping pussy and plunged myself noisily into the new pussy squeezing between Danielle’s and Jenna’s. She yelped and cried when I hammered myself into her from behind and I recognized the voice: it was none other, of course, than that fun and playful blonde from billing, Bailey, the one who started the whole mad adventure that mid-winter evening with her car broken down in the front parking lot of the utility.
Not one of those three classy office girls could ever belong to a blue-collar working stiff like me, I still told myself, though it was obviously becoming more and more untrue. I leaned back even as I pummeled my hips into Bailey’s ass from behind, and I reached down to cup my hands around the other two pussies squirming and straining beside Bailey’s pussy, and I drove my middle finger of each hand into their sopping, quivering lips and rubbed their hard little clitorises with my thumbs.
Maybe not one of them, I said to myself, my head rolling back, my mouth grimacing, my neck bulging. But all three at the same time? “Hell ya!” I shouted to the open field and the small lake around us. All three girls squealed and laughed.
“So are you going to take the job?” Bailey shouted at me with her voice hiccuped by my pounding her body from behind.
“Fuck ya!” I shouted to the sky. All three of them whooped.
You’d be forgiven for snorting in disbelief when I tell you, all three of those girls, and me too, erupted in Earth-shaking orgasms all at the same time. But that’s how it had been going for us — each girl’s panting, high-pitched cries aroused the others so much, they all rose together in a mutually-reinforcing crescendo together, which of course, pulled me up to the heights with them. The breaking of any of them was enough to break us all, though we all struggled so hard to clamp down and hold off. The release of tension was epic.
If anyone were hiking around the land, they’d have thought they’d came across a pack of howling coyotes. Liberated by having so much land to ourselves with no one around, they were allowed, as well as I was, to howl and scream and cry out as much as we wanted to, and we all fully took advantage of the freedom.
And then we laughed at each other and ourselves so hard none of us could even get back up on our hands and knees. Nobody even knew what was so funny, which only made us laugh harder so that we didn’t even make sounds anymore. It hurt in our guts. The long, slow and staggering walk back to my cottage was interrupted several times by more knee-collapsing fits of renewed laughter, none of us knowing why or what for, or how to stop. We were drunk with too much sex.
Monday morning, I opened the warehouse and went though my usual routine, putting on the lights, opening the lockers, refreshing the order sheets. I reviewed the day’s job orders for the crews and made sure I had their stuff ready. The line crews came in and loaded their trucks and rolled out into the countryside. When everyone was set up and gone out, I struck out for the front office and ambled up the driveway looking left and right and checking that everything was stacked, tidy, and safe. When I came through the back door and into the office, I caught sight of all three of my girls looking at me with nervous and anxious eyes. I gave them nothing back on my face.
McGavin had wasted no time moving himself over into Gerald’s barely vacated office. I knocked on his open door, leaned my head through, and said, “Got a moment?”
He snorted and sat back in the tall leather chair and clasped his fingers together behind his head.
“All the time in the world for you,” he said with a broad smile.
I went in and shut the door and sat at a chair at his board table inside his new office. He came over and joined me, holding a laptop.
“Before you decide,” he said, “I want to show you the schedule of benefits.”
I couldn’t tell him that Danielle already showed me. I had to pretend to be surprised, to be impressed. But there was something new that that Danielle had skipped over: “Ten weeks of paid vacation?” I said.
“I’ll get that bumped up to 12,” he said with a nod, and he spun the laptop back to himself and skittered his fingers over the keyboard.
I hadn’t been asking for more, I was only astonished at the number of days I was being offered to begin with. I did the math in my head. Twelve weeks was nearly one quarter of the whole year. I shook my head in disbelief.
“Not good?” he said, leaning back and recoiling his chin into his chest.
“No!” I said, “no, no, I’ll take it, I’ll do it,” I said.
He smiled broadly and reached his hand out over the table and shook my hand tightly and rapidly. “Congratulations!” he said. “You’re the right one for the job, I already know that,” he said.
And then he wrapped his hand around my bicep, pulled me toward him and leaned over at the same time so that our faces came nearly together, and he glanced up over my shoulder as though to check his office door was truly closed.
“And no fucking any office girls on the forklift, in the sheds, or in your new office, nor anywhere else on company property,” he said to me sternly and with squinting eyes.
It was a McGavin I’d never seen before.
“That is a deal-breaker and with no appeal,” he said, “given how it’s already on your employment record once already. You got that?”
I pulled back from him but he held my bicep hard enough in place to hurt me. “No fucking the office girls,” I said, “on company property.” I nodded at him.
He let my arm go and sat back to fold his hands over his stomach. “I don’t even want to know which one it was,” he said.
I chewed my cheek and looked down at the table. I couldn’t tell him it was all three of them.
He slapped his thighs and shot up, returning the broad smile to his face. “Shall we go see it?” he said.
“See what?” I said.
“Your new office!” he cried out loud, and he threw his arm around my shoulders and lead me out of his new office and across the space to his old office. I glanced around and saw Bailey, Danielle, and Jenna hard at work. They could see what was going on and they could hardly stop grinning down at their desks.
“Those three,” McGavin murmured close to my ear. “You’re going to need to keep an eye on them — they’re always up to something, but I can never tell what it is,” he said and he laughed. “Thankfully, and I mean this,” he said, guiding me through the office door,  “guys like you and me, we don’t have to worry too much about getting involved with girls like them, am I right?” he said, and he chuckled. “Whole other league, know what I’m saying? Girls like them — SEB!” he said.
I looked at him quizzically.
“Somebody else’s problem!” he said.
I turned to face him, but his expression was oblivious back to me. I looked back out the door and over the rest of the staff of the office and wondered, with a grimace I fought back on my face, who he thought I’d been boinking on the forklift, if not one of those three? The thought made me shudder. They rest of them were married, for one thing, and the youngest of them was at least 42 to my 25. McGavin was married too.
“First order of business,” he nodded, “is hiring a new handyman,” he said, and he took me back out of the office and down out the back door and into the driveway. “Sooner you get that done, sooner you move up to your new office and start for real on your new job.”
“How do I do that?” I said. “How do I find my replacement?”
He shrugged and laughed. “Search me!” he said, and he turned to go back into the office. “That’s your job now!”
After work, we all met back at the real estate office. I showed Mariam the signed employment agreement for my new job, and it’s pay grade and benefits.
She nodded at Danielle — it was exactly what Danielle said it would be. But of course it was, it was Danielle who created the agreement for McGavin and me to sign.
Mariam had me sign several sheets she had already prepared with sticky yellow arrows, and when I finished, she tidied up one set and handed it to Jenna. Jenna nodded and immediately got up and left. “Meeting is in two hours,” she said. “Their agenda is stuck in-process,” she said and she snickered. “Someone’s internet is down or something!”
“Bring me the minutes of the meeting Tuesday!” Bailey called to Jenna as she raced out the door. “My real estate friend is waiting!”
Jenna only gave a thumbs up behind her back.
“Help me find my replacement,” I said to Bailey and Danielle as we turned to leave the banker’s office. “It’s my first order of business as the manager.”
Danielle rolled her eyes. “Let’s go get a coffee,” she said. “I already have five picked out for you to pick three from to interview,” she said. “What do you think I do around there anyway?”
When we sat down in the cafe, she opened her laptop but only half turned it to me. “You’re not against a female for the handyman position, are you?” she said.
I hadn’t thought of it, but I knew already, I couldn’t make that kind of restriction anyway. “Of course not,” I said. “Still going to call her handyman though?”
Danielle shrugged and turned the laptop the rest of the way around to face me. “Changing the job title is a couple of pay grades over my head,” she said.
“How do I pick?” I said to her, scanning over the five files with faces she showed me on her screen.
“You know the job best, and all I can tell you is, as for qualifications and abilities and experience, these five are equal. They’re all good.”
“Great,” I said. There were four men and one woman. I studied their documents and looked over their experience. Danielle and Bailey left me to it, doing their own thing.
Finally I raised my face over the top of Danielle’s laptop. “You’re going to be doubtful, I already know,” I said. “But the woman looks best to me.”
“You need to pick three,” Danielle reminded me. “You don’t choose yet, you need to interview at least three, and it’s got to be honest interviews, too. Get Kentucky in for the interviews, I strongly suggest, and I’ll come in too — we’ll prepare questions together.”
“This sounds so serious,” I said.
“We’re going to do things differently from now on,” Danielle said. “No more flying by the seats of our pants, the way old man Gerald did it,” she said.
“Everybody loves Gerald,” I said, “I thought.”
“Everybody who didn’t have to clean up after him,” she said.
I picked two more candidates and we called it a night.
Vicky, as she preferred to be called, it turned out, handled her interview well.
Kentucky asked her, at one point, “How will you handle coiling up the ends of cables?” believing he’d tripped her up on her physical abilities. She was on the small side — 25 years old (just like the other girls) and petite in stature.
“The line crews should be coiling those before they bring them in,” she said. “At site.”
Kentucky looked down and then he looked sideways at me. “She’s not wrong,” he said, and he chuckled.
I shook my head. There was no question she was the by far the best candidate, and I phoned her the next day to bring her in to sign her up.
I hired a crew to build the four “vacation cabins” at the same time, and they went up fast since the pads were already in place. When they were all done, all four of us, me, Bailey, Danielle, and Jenna, moved in.
“Will people think it’s weird,” Jenna said, “all of us living together out here?”
“Not exactly together,” Danielle said. “We each have our own place,” she said and she shrugged. “Anyway, fuck ‘em,” she said. “I for one love it! They’ll be jealous!”
We all looked at each other. It was strange to hear Danielle talk like that.
“What?” she said and she shrugged. “We’ve all changed, haven’t we,” she said.
By December, my ranger’s cottage was done too — re-modelled and added-on to in the original style. The best part, though, was the expanded and now-heated barn. The girls weren’t wrong — making the much-higher income was something I quickly got used to.
I joined them for coffee break at the same cafe we’d started going to way back then. Vicky of course had started to join them. She seemed to my managerial eye to fit right in with them — fun, light-hearted, but also efficient, sharp, and organized.
She was also very much “in league” with them, looks-wise just as much as personality-wise. She had that Black-Vietnamese thing going on, the kind of thing you can’t help but stare into and get lost in.
She was also crazy efficient, with a mind like a diamond and shoes that cut. She wore her hair up and, every day, a short skirt and a long jacket. She’d turned the handyman job into something more like a physical plant managerial position. She automated the parts inventory and ordering process her first month, so that Jenna in ordering got instant data at a click. She didn’t need to input orders, it was already done, pending only her click to sign off on it. The line crew trucks were outfitted with internet-enabled pads so that inventory was updated in real-time, automatically. The warehouse budget plummeted. To hear Kentucky and the other line crews speak of it, you’d think she replaced a guy who did nothing all day.
“She’s to you what you were to Freddy,” Wrecker said, and they all laughed at the comparison. But it wasn’t far off from truth.
“My apartment, on the other hand,” Vicky said, and she rolled her eyes and shook her head.
“What’s up with that?” Jenna said.
“Ugh!” Vicky gasped. “I’m an early riser — of course — so early to bed,” she said. “Meanwhile, my neighbors are yelling and stomping and god knows what else all night long!” She glared around the table at all of us.
“I like it quiet, too,” Danielle said.
“Right!?” Vicky said. “A home should be a sanctuary.”
“I know a quiet cabin by a small lake,” Jenna blurted out. She scrunched down between her shoulders. “Only ten minutes to work,” she continued, having already started.
“I would so love that!” Vicky said, and she grunted in a way that made me turn away and shut my eyes.
All three girls started describing the land, the lake, and the cabin to her, so much so, that Vicky sat back and grew suspicious.
“Wait,” she said and she squinted her eyes at them. “Do you guys all live in this magical place or something?”
They looked at each other and they all began to nod in unison before they turned their faces back to her. “And this one owns it, too,” Jenna said. “He’s our landlord!”
“Oh my god,” Vicky said, and she covered her mouth with her hand and turned to me. “Seriously?”
I shrugged. “They talked me into buying it last year,” I said. “We put up the cabins last fall. It was kind of s sweetheart deal,” I said.
“You could rent number four to her for the weekend!” Jenna said, and she reached over the table and squeezed Vicky’s hand. “Just to check it out! We have to rent it to someone!”
“I could really use a break like that — there’s a new building going up right outside my balcony besides, and they work all weekend!” Vicky said.
“Can she?” Danielle said to me. Both her and Bailey looked at me with wide, expectant eyes.
“She can check it out,” I said. “And if she likes it, who knows, maybe she wants to live there. Like Jenna said,” I said, turning to Vicky. “We have to rent it anyway, I got loans to pay back.”
Friday evening, Vicky’s car headlights lit up the end of the driveway. Jenna was riding with her to make sure she found the driveway, it was so obscured from the lonely quiet road.
We all showed her the fourth cabin. The way Danielle and Bailey and Jenna had decorated and furnished it, there was no doubt Vicky was going to love it.
“And your weekend is free, if you decide to stay long term,” Jenna said, and she turned to me. “Right?”
Of course I had to nod.
One of the things we uncovered about the original ranger cottage was that the half that had burned down, as we discovered, had in it a massive stone fireplace. I was reluctant, but Danielle assured me the larger loan would be easily handled by the rental income. I’m glad she convinced me, too, because the huge living room with the big fireplace was soon the focal point of the whole property, especially during the long, darker winters.
The girls helped Vicky settle in and we had homemade pizza — baked in the fireplace — and sat around the long planks of the kitchen table laughing, talking, eating and drinking.
“The way Vicky blends in,” I said to Danielle in the hallway where we bumped into each other on the way to and back from the bathroom, “you’d think she’d been hanging around the whole time.”
“You made a good hire, boss,” she said.
“Like you didn’t set me up to make it,” I said.
“Isn’t that what they say a good boss does? Delegate and trust? Lead from behind?” she said, and she reached around me and pinched my ass and laughed on her way through the bathroom door. “You like it behind, don’t you?” she said over her shoulder at me with glinting eyes and crooked grin.
We all ended up on the couch watching shows. All the girls were glancing at me and grinning secretly and looking away like everybody could feel the tension but didn’t want to be the one to break it. How do you tell a person that everybody in the room is “together” that way? It’s a weird subject to bring up. It didn’t help that the show we were watching was a comedy where a girl suspects exactly that very thing is going on with two other girls and a guy.
First Bailey turned in, claiming to be super tired early. Then Danielle went to her cabin. It remained only Jenna, me, and Vicky on the couch, in that order.
Jenna started it, like she usually had. “He’s a pretty cute boss, isn’t he,” she said to Vicky.
“I don’t like the actor so much,” Vicky said. Jenna leaned forward and looked sideways over me to catch Vicky’s eyes. “I meant this one here,” she said, and she snorted lightly.
Vicky looked at me over her shoulder and made eyes at me that made me nervous for a reason I couldn’t tell. Her head wriggled and she grinned up one side of her face. “He’s not bad,” she said, and she bit her lip looking at Jenna.
Jenna laid her hand on my thigh. “You can kiss him, if you like. He’s only the boss at work,” she said. “Here, he’s more  . . . “ she said, and she paused and squinted at me, thinking. “ . . . our handyman,” she finally said.
Vicky snorted and ducked her widely grinning face down into her cupped hands. “Isn’t that wrong though?” she said.
“Nope,” Jenna said. “Watch,” she said, and she touched my chin and drew my face toward her with her finger. And then she kissed me, long and deeply. “Now you try,” she said.
“Is it okay?” Vicky said to me. “I actually . . . “ she started and she paused.
“You actually like to have fun but don’t want to have a full-on and real relationship?” Jenna said, completing her thought.
“I thought I was the only one,” Vicky said in a tiny voice.
“That’s what’s so great about this guy,” Jenna said, and she threw her leg over my lap, wrapped her hands together behind my neck, and sat on my knees facing me. She dropped her face down and leaned forward into me. “You can play with him and it doesn’t cost anything,” she said, and she sank her lips into mine and moaned in a light, high pitch into my mouth.
She turned to Vicky. “We all do it, as a matter of fact,” she said to her. “With him.”
Vicky jutted her chin forward and scrunched her hand into my thigh. “What do you mean you all do it?” she said.
“Should I tell her?” Jenna said to me.
“I think you already are,” I said.
She sighed and sank down on me and rolled her face up to the ceiling. “It’s kind of hard to explain,” she said to Vicky. “And it’s not something anybody planned or anything. But it just sort of became something we do,” she said before turning to me. “All of us.”
Vicky’s fingers twisted in my pants. “What do you do?” she said. Her voice shook a little.
Jenna snorted and bit her lips and looked at me. “We play with him, like that,” she said.
“We?” Vicky said.
Jenna turned to her and rested the side of her face on my forehead. “We all have sex with him, Bailey, Danielle, and me. Sometimes at the same time, too,” she said.
Vicky covered her mouth with her cupped hand and inhaled sharply. “All of you?”
Jenna nodded.
“At the same time?”
Jenna snorted and kept nodding.
“And you’re all fine with it?” Vicky said.
“It somehow works,” Jenna said. “For now, anyway.” She leaned toward me and kissed me on the mouth again.
“Kiss him,” Jenna said to Vicky.
“Can I?” she said to me.
Jenna chuckled. “I know he’ll like it, I can tell he likes you without even asking.”
I sat there like an object, but I did shake my head at Jenna. I thought she was pushing things too far too fast. But then without me seeing her coming, Vicky sank her mouth over my mouth.
I turned to her and widened my eyes. But she kept her eyes closed and brought her hands up around my cheeks and held me facing her. Her tongue invaded my mouth and her breath intoxicated me with her sweet scent. Jenna just chuckled.
When she finally pulled back from the kiss, Jenna instantly turned my face to her and gave me the same kiss that Vicky had just given me. When she came away from me, she smiled and leaned over, and without pausing, she sank her mouth over Vicky’s mouth. Vicky came forward to prolong that kiss, too, right in front of my face.
When that kiss ended, they looked at each other with their eyes aflame and their chests heaving with deep and rapid breath. They both grinned crookedly at each other. After about two beats, a sudden flurry blurred the couch, and when next I was able to open my eyes, both of Jenna and Vicky were stripped down to their panties — one pale blue, the other pale pink — and I was missing all my clothes, including my shorts.
Jenna pushed me down sideways on the couch, but it was Vicky, surprisingly, who was the more aggressive and assertive. She jutted her chin at me and flared her eyes, and she pressed her hand, fingers splayed, into my chest, forcing me down until my head came to rest on the arm of the couch. While the show droned on, Vicky panted and grunted and licked my body all over, finally ending up between my legs.
Jenna meanwhile laughed and kissed Vicky all over her naked body. She wrapped her hand around the base of my shaft and pointed it at Vicky. Vicky glared at her with steam coming off her face, before she ducked down and pressed her lips around the head of my cock.
Jenna squished herself down the couch and laid the side of her face on the top of my hip to watch from up close as Vicky, hovering over me with her shoulders poking up high and her head dropped down in my groin, slid her mouth, hot wet and tight, down my shaft as far as Jenna’s fist gripping me around the base.
She kissed the side of my cock and Vicky came off me and kissed the other side of my cock, and together they dragged their lips up and down the shaft. They kissed each other with the head of my cock between their lips. Jenna pushed her mouth down the length of my cock and pumped me a few times deep in her mouth, before she came up and off me, and she pushed Vicky’s head down over me, but she would have plunged her mouth eagerly down the full length of me without Jenna’s pressure.
Jenna looked up at me from me hips where Vicky consumed me and she shook her head at me and grinned and rolled her eyes. “Just what you wanted,” she said.
I wanted to tell her it wasn’t my idea, but what Vicky was doing to me inside her mouth made me swallow my tongue and fall back on the arm of the couch. Jenna pushed herself up between me and the back of the couch and she cooed in my ear and chuckled into my neck.
“Does master like the new girl?” she said, and she squealed and tugged me by the chin to kiss my mouth.
Vicky pulled her mouth up and off my cock, and panting and groaning like some feral beast, she climbed up over my body on her hands and knees. Jenna pinched her tongue between her teeth and squirmed beside me until she laid on her back down the length of the couch between me and the cushions behind her. She pulled her legs up and hung them over the back cushions to give Vicky enough room to squeeze her knees around my waist, and she dropped her face down from her high shoulders and whipped at my mouth with her tongue. She was like something released into the wild, like something gone mad with desire: something that had been in a cage too long.
Jenna reached between her legs and found my slobber-covered cock under Vicky’s gyrating hips, and she pulled on me and stood me up straight under her.
“I just need to,” Vicky cried, as though compelled to explain herself, and she bit her lip and gasped. Jenna drew the tip of the head of my cock forward and back through the slit of Vicky’s soaking pussy, and Vicky, impatient and frantic and almost out of control, pushed her hips down, howled at the ceiling, and clenched her fists into my chest, scratching my skin with ten distinct red lines.
“Oh my god!” Jenna groaned into my ear, as she marveled, eyes wide, at Vicky, who fucked me like the house was on fire. She was so small and light, it didn’t hurt me to absorb the full force of her entire weight slamming down into me, her whole body rippling with tension and tight as a guitar string.
When Vicky’s pussy began to contract and squeeze me too hard, I gulped and strained in my body and tried to hold her down against me. But she was wiry and flailing on me, and she grimaced with her neck bulging as though she’d been tasered, and she rattled on me like it, too. Her pussy vibrated like a low bass speaker and her breathing stopped and her face went red.
Her and I both stopped breathing. We both hung suspended over the precipice, and we both clenched up even tighter throughout our bodies. It was a moment that stretched to infinity, those two milliseconds of so. When I exploded up into her, she cried in an otherworldly and animalistic groan. It would have sounded like someone getting exorcised, if they were listening outside the room.
We had gotten pretty good at each other by then, and I was familiar with the sounds and convulsions internal and external with both light and heavy orgasms in all of Bailey, Danielle, and Jenna. Vicky, though, was a whole other level of thrashing violence and clenching spasms. Even Jenna was astonished, dropping her jaw open and widening her eyes at me, even as I opened mine, subsiding under her gyrating hips, even as Vicky continued to contort and thrust herself all over me.
She suddenly pulled herself up off me and dashed high on her toes out of the room and down the hallway to the bathroom. Jenna went after her a few minutes later and brought Vicky’s clothes with her. “I told you not to break us!” she said, and she chuckled as she ran.
Jenna came out a little later and told me Vicky was feeling shy and embarrassed, and that she’d walk her back to her cabin. I went to bed.
Saturday morning, I heard laughing and I looked out my kitchen window. Bailey caught sight of me from the log we’d placed on the small beach we created along the side of the lake in front of the cabins, and she waved me over. All four of them were sitting on the log with coffee mugs in their hands, side by side by side.
I made a coffee, too, and chanced to go down to join them. I had no idea what the reaction was going to be, given what happened on the couch the night before. I didn’t know who knew what.
There was a stump set into the sand of the beach in front of the rocky fire pit I built and I sat down on it and gazed across the haze rising off the surface of the lake in the early morning — I was avoiding eye contact with any of them, and most especially, Vicky, who I wasn’t sure about most of all.
“So, landlord,” Bailey said.
I looked up uncertainly at her and hid half my face behind my mug tilted at my lips.
“I guess we found your fourth long-term tenant,” she said.
I looked out the corners of my eyes at the four of them lined up along the length of the log, each of them in hoodys and shorts and bare feet digging into the beach sand. All at once, they burst out laughing at me.
“So can I live here, too?” Vicky said. She tilted her face sideways and bit her lip and curved her eyebrows at me with anticipation filling her face.
“You’ll have to ask the managers,” I said to her. “For I am a simple handyman.”
They all laughed and Danielle got up, messed my hair with her hand, and made her way back to her cabin. “Sure you are, Luke,” she called over her shoulder. “Sure you are.”
Bailey got up, too. “That’s a yes, if you need a translation — he likes to play being Mr. Cryptic sometimes,” she said to Vicky, and she stuck her tongue out at me.
Jenna got up, and finally, Vicky did too. “How long is your lease at your building in town?” Jenna said.
“I don’t even care — I just want to move now,” she said. “Like today.”
Jenna looked at me with expectation in her eyes.
I puffed my cheeks out and got up as well. “Yes, we can use my truck to move, let me get ready,” I said.
“I hardly have anything anyway,” Vicky said over her shoulder from where Jenna lead her away and back to the row of cabins with her arm around her waist.
“He’ll look after you,” Jenna said to her. She turned further around and found me behind her over her shoulder. “Won’t you,” she said, and she laughed.
“He’s a very helpful man,” Bailey shouted over from where she and Danielle  chatted on the steps of their cabins and laughed.
“He can fix anything!” Danielle shouted.
I stood on the beach in my bare feet looking at the row of four cabins. On the right, Bailey and Danielle lingered on their bottom steps, talking. On the left, Jenna and Vicky parted with their arms coming away from each other’s waist, and then their hands pulling apart, and finally their middle fingers alone outstretching, until they too came apart, and they went up their own steps and inside their own cabins.
I saw Vicky tug on her screen door that was stuck a bit and didn’t close right. “I’ll have to fix that,” I said to myself, and I drained the last of my mug. “Probably plane a centimeter off the bottom should do it,” I murmured to myself, and I poured the remains of my mug into the tall grass and went to my cottage.




 Other harem series by Sandy Laine





From Friendzone to Harem Zone 


Nursing Students 



Accidental College Harem


The Sub


Handyman Harem

Traveling Harem


Mojave Harem

Watchman Harem






Copyright



Copyright © 2024 Sandy Laine & PMI All rights reserved

The characters and events portrayed in this book are fictitious. Any similarity to real persons, living or dead, is coincidental and not intended by the author.

No part of this book may be reproduced, or stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without express written permission of the publisher.

Comments and queries: immedian@gmail.com





cover1.jpeg
/

e ST [T series





